
 
 

West Oxfordshire District Council, Council Offices, Woodgreen, Witney, OX28 1NB 
www.westoxon.gov.uk Tel: 01993 861000 

 

 

 

Friday 28 June 2024 

 

 

Tel: 01993 861000 

email: democratic.services@westoxon.gov.uk  

 

 

LOWLANDS AREA PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

You are summoned to a meeting of the Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee, which will be 

held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, Woodgreen, Witney, Oxfordshire OX28 1NB on 

Monday 8 July 2024 at 2.00pm. 

 

 
Giles Hughes 

Chief Executive 

 

 

To: Members of the Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee 

 

Councillors: Michael Brooker (Chair), Andy Goodwin (Vice-Chair), Joy Aitman, Julian Cooper, 

Steve Cosier, Rachel Crouch, Phil Godfrey, Nick Leverton, Andrew Lyon, Michele 

Mead, David Melvin, Andrew Prosser, Sarah Veasey, Adrian Walsh and Alistair Wray. 

 

 

Recording of Proceedings – The law allows the public proceedings of Council, Cabinet, and 

Committee Meetings to be recorded, which includes filming as well as audio-recording.  

Photography is also permitted. By participating in this meeting, you are consenting to be filmed. 

 

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record any part of the proceedings please let the 

Democratic Services officers know prior to the start of the meeting. 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

http://www.westoxon.gov.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@westoxon.gov.uk


 

AGENDA 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence  

To receive any apologies for absence from members of Sub-Committee. 

The quorum for the Sub-Committee is 4 members. 

 

2.   Declarations of Interest  

To receive any declarations of interest from members of the Sub-Committee on any items to be 

considered at the meeting. 

 

3.   Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 5 – 10) 

To approve the minutes of the previous meeting, held on Monday 10 June 2024. 

 

4.   Applications for Development (Pages 11 – 36) 

Purpose: 

To consider applications for development, details of which are set out in the attached schedule. 

 

Recommendation: 

That the applications be determined in accordance with the recommendations of the Business 

Manager – Development Management. 

 

Pages  Application No. Address Planning Officer 

11-27 24/00655/FUL 111 Manor Road, Witney Clare Anscombe 

28-34 24/00980/HHD 17 Cotswold Close, Minster 

Lovell 

Curtis Badley 

 

  

4.1  
 

24/00655/FUL  111 Manor Road, Witney 

 

 

4.2   24/00980/HHD  17 Cotswold Close, Minster Lovell 

 

 

5.   Applications Determined under Delegated Powers (Pages 37 – 44) 

Purpose: 

To inform the Sub-Committee of applications determined under delegated powers. 

 

Recommendation: 

1. That the report be noted by the Sub-Committee. 

 

6.   Appeal Decisions (Pages 45 – 46) 

Purpose: 

To inform the Sub-Committee of any appeal decisions. 

 

Recommendation: 

1. That the report be noted by the Sub-Committee. 

 

7.   Progress on Enforcement Cases (Pages 47 – 58) 

Purpose: 

To provide an update on progress in respect of priority enforcement investigations. 

 

Recommendation: 

That the progress and nature of the outstanding enforcement investigations be noted by the Sub-

Committee. 

 

 

(END) 

Page 2



 

 

 

WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Minutes of a meeting of the 

Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee 

Held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, Woodgreen, Witney, Oxfordshire OX28 1NB 

at 2.00pm on Monday 10 June 2024. 

PRESENT 

Councillors: Michael Brooker (Chair), Andy Goodwin (Vice-Chair), Steve Cosier, Rachel 

Crouch, Phil Godfrey, Nick Leverton, Andrew Lyon, Michele Mead, David Melvin, Sandra 

Simpson, Sarah Veasey, Adrian Walsh and Alistair Wray. 

Officers: James Nelson (Principal Planner), Abby Fettes (Development Manager), Andrew 

Brown (Business Manager, Democratic Services), Max Thompson (Senior Democratic Services 

Officer), Joshua McFarland (Planning Officer), and Nathan Harris (Planning Officer).   

12 Election of Chair  

Councillor Julian Cooper, Chair of Development Control Committee, opened the meeting and 

asked for nominations for Chair of the Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee. 

Councillor Andy Goodwin proposed that Councillor Michael Booker be elected as Chair of 

the Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee for the municipal year 2024-2025. This was 

seconded by Councillor Steve Cosier. With no other nominations made, the proposal was put 

to a vote and was unanimously agreed by the Sub-Committee. 

The Sub-Committee Resolved to: 

1. Elect Councillor Michael Booker as the Chair of the Lowlands Area Planning Sub-

Committee for the municipal year 2024-2025. 

13 Appointment of Vice-Chair  

Councillor Michael Booker, Chair of the Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee, proposed 

that Councillor Andy Goodwin be appointed as Vice-Chair of the Lowlands Area Planning Sub-

Committee for the municipal year 2024-2025. This was seconded by Councillor Steve Cosier. 
With no other nominations made, the proposal was put to a vote and was unanimously agreed 

by the Sub-Committee. 

The Sub-Committee Resolved to: 

1. Appoint Councillor Andy Goodwin as Vice-Chair of the Lowlands Area Planning Sub-

Committee for the municipal year 2024-2025. 

14 Apologies for Absence and Temporary Appointments  

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Andrew Prosser. 

Councillor Sandra Simpson substituted for Councillor Andrew Prosser. 

Councillor Joy Aitman was absent from the meeting. 

15 Declarations of Interest  

Councillor Phil Godfrey stated they knew the applicants for delegated decision number 32 

(24/00512/HHD), and for delegated decision number 64 (24/00722/HHD). 

Councillor Sarah Veasey stated they were the ward Councillor for North Leigh in relation to 

the second application listed on the meeting agenda (24/00596/S73). 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee 

10/June2024 

 

 

These were non-pecuniary interests and did not preclude the members from participating in 

the consideration of the relevant applications. 

16 Minutes of Previous Meeting  

Councillor Andy Goodwin proposed that the minutes of the previous meeting, held on 

Monday 22 April 2024, be approved by the Sub-Committee as a true and accurate record. 

This was seconded by Councillor Rachel Crouch, was put to a vote and was unanimously 

agreed by the Sub-Committee. 

The Sub-Committee Resolved to: 

1. Agree the minutes of the previous meeting, held on Monday 22 April 2024 as a true 

and accurate record. 

Applications for Development  

18 24/00115/FUL 9 Charterville Close, Minister Lovell, Witney.  

James Nelson, Principal Planner, introduced the application for the proposal of a dropped kerb 

and hard standing for off street parking.  

The Principal Planner provided a presentation to the Sub-Committee drawing attention to the 

following: 

 The application site related to a mid-terraced dwelling house within the residential area 

of Minster Lovell;  

 The proposed hardstanding was to be on an existing parcel of green space forward of 

the front elevation of the dwelling house outside of the residential curtilage and the 

kerb was to be dropped the full 2.5m. The existing pathways were to remain as 

existing, and the hard standing was to be a grass mat hard standing to replicate the 

existing grassed verge; 

 The site did not fall within any areas of special designated control and therefore the 

main considerations of the application were the impacts of the proposed development 

on the visual amenity, residential amenity, parking provision and highway safety. 

 

Steve Jones addressed the Sub-Committee as the applicant. 

 

The Principal Planner continued with their presentation which clarified the following points: 

 There was an objection received from 11 Charterville Close; 

 Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) Highways had been consulted on the application 

due to the change in parking provision and the change of use of land. OCC Highways 

stated that the proposed parking space was on a public highway and as a result could 

not be reserved for the sole use of the applicant. OCC Highways also stated that the 

proposal did not comply with OCC’s dropped kerb guidance but would not 

demonstrate sufficient harm in terms of highway safety. As a result, OCC Highways 

had raised no objections in regard to highways safety and convenience subject to 

relevant conditions and informative; 

 Officers noted the comments made by OCC Highways and noted that as stated, 

planning permission was not required for the dropped kerb but in any event, fell under 

the agreement between the applicant and OCC Highways. The hardstanding proposed 

would alleviate an element of parking concerns in the locality and would not result in 

Page 4



Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee 

10/June2024 

 

 

unacceptable highway safety harm. On this basis, the scheme was considered 

acceptable and complied with policy T4 of the West Oxfordshire Local Plan; 

 The proposed dropped kerb and hard standing for off street parking would be visible 

on the street scene, however it was considered that the proposed works would not 

give rise to adverse impacts in regard to visual amenity as there was still a softening 

between the verge and the dwelling house in form of the front garden. Therefore, it 

was considered that the proposal would not give rise to any adverse impacts in regard 

to visual amenity; 

 Officers were of the opinion that the proposal would not give rise to any adverse 

impacts in regard to neighbouring amenity. There was no built form that would result 

in overshadowing, overlooking, loss of light or privacy. 

 

The Chair invited the Sub-Committee to discuss the application, which raised the following 

points: 

 Issues of biodiversity regarding the loss of the grass verge – The Principal Planner 

confirmed that the application was exempt from biodiversity due to its size and scale.  

 Further questions were raised on the loss of the access point for parking from the 

neighbour and on the requirement of West Oxfordshire District Council to follow the 

local plan guidance from Oxfordshire County Council regarding car parking spaces – 

The Principle Planner suggested that the existing grass area provided access as opposed 

to the verge and that in regards to the local plan question, the car parking in this case 

was not solely for the use of the applicant and that OCC Highways had not objected, 

therefore it was felt refusal of the application on these grounds was not sufficient;  

 Queries were raised as to how this application would impact the character of the 

properties in the area – The Principal Planner referenced the 2017 approval of a similar 

application and explained that this would have set a precedent;  

 Members commented regarding how the applicant had made efforts to mitigate the 

green issues by using hard standing instead of tarmac, that parking on the verge and 

churning up the grass was not ideal. Members also stated that biodiversity had become 

a more known subject since 2017 and that if all the green verges were changed to 

parking areas within the close, it would not be just one small area and may indeed 

affect biodiversity. 

 

Councillor Andy Goodwin proposed that the application be approved, in line with Officer 

recommendations. This was seconded by Councillor Michele Mead and was put to a vote. 

There were 11 votes in favour, 1 vote against and 1 abstention. The vote was carried. 

The Sub-Committee Resolved to: 

1. Approve the application in line with Officer recommendations. 

19 24/00596/S73 North Leigh Football Club, Eynsham Park, North Leigh.  

James Nelson, Principal Planner, introduced the application for a variation of condition 1 of 

permission to extend the use of the temporary car park on the existing football pitch for a 

further 12 months until 31st March 2025. 

The Principal Planner’s presentation to the Sub-Committee drew attention to the nature of 

the temporary car park, and stated that even with the extended timeline, officers were of the 

opinion that the proposal would not give rise to any adverse impacts in regard to neighbouring 

Page 5



Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee 

10/June2024 

 

 

amenity. The car park was to be a sufficient distance away from neighbouring properties in 

which the effects of comings and goings would not have a detrimental impact on neighbouring 

properties. 

Ray Plowman addressed the Sub-Committee in objection to the application. 

Keith Chichester addressed the Sub-Committee as the agent to the applicant.  

The Planning Officer continued with their presentation which clarified the following points: 

 The use of the temporary car park hereby permitted would cease on 31 March 2025. 

Within 3 months of removal of the temporary car park, the playing field was to be 

reinstated as per the White Horse Contractor's report dated 1 February 2024. This 

would ensure that the use was only justified by the special and temporary need for the 

development; 

 The temporary car park permitted would only be used by members of staff employed 

at Estelle Manor, which would ensure a safe and adequate parking provision; 

 Officers had carefully considered the residential amenity concerns that would arise 

from a development and had concluded that there were minimal concerns which were 

considered acceptable in terms of residential amenity;  

 Officers noted that there had been third party objection comments noting the unsafe 

access. However, OCC Highways had been fully consulted on the application, and 

stated that the application was considered acceptable in the first instance. It was 

considered that the intensified use would not warrant a detrimental harm to highway 

safety whilst also considering its initial use of a football club. 

 

The Chair invited the Sub-Committee to discuss the application, which raised the following 

points: 

 Members enquired how the additional condition on page 28 of the officer’s report 

regarding using the car park by staff, would be enforced and how officers would know 

if it was indeed hotel staff only using the car park. The Principal Planner explained if it 

was deemed necessary, enforcement action could be taken; 

 Members queried the reinstatement of time limits related to the sports pitches. The 

Principal Planner confirmed there was a report referred to in section 5.9 of the 

officer’s report relating to an agreement made by Sport England on a temporary basis; 

 Members asked how assurances could be given that the application was not extended 

in future – The Principal Planner suggested that an informative could be placed on the 

decision; 

 Members queried a past application, questioning would the application still have been 

approved if a larger number of spaces would have been requested at the time. The 

Principal Planner explained that a past application may have been considered as a 

Section 73 application, and could not give a definitive answer. The current plan had not 

changed, only the specified timeframe;  

 Members enquired when the site had last been visited. The Principal Planner confirmed 

that the site had last been visited in March 2024. Members requested that Officers 

revisit the site, to clarify the current position and to map the situation to be used as a 
benchmark for referencing in future. Officers confirmed that a check of the site would 

be carried out before the permission was issued;  

 Members questioned whether the current parking provisions meant that there was one 

less football pitch in use. The Principal Planner explained that the sports pitch would be 

Page 6



Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee 

10/June2024 

 

 

reinstated as soon as possible, and confirmed the current state of the car park was not 

currently having an adverse effect on local football matches; 

 Members queried why there was not a travel plan in place for the site. The Principal 

Planner Officer suggested a travel plan was an ongoing process and that it was a 

separate issue included in the original application for the consent to the wider works of 

the site, as opposed to a car park. A new travel plan was being developed for the wider 

works to the site.  

 

Councillor Andy Goodwin proposed that the application be approved, in line with Officer 

recommendations. This was seconded by Councillor Michele Mead and was put to a vote. 

There were 12 votes in favour, 0 votes against and 1 abstention. The vote was carried. 

The Sub-Committee Resolved to: 

1. Approve the application in line with Officer recommendations. 

20 24/00601/PN56 Elmfield, New Yatt Road, Witney  

James Nelson, Principal Planner, introduced the application for installation of replacement 

rooftop solar panels. 

The Principal Planner stated that the application was a notification for a determination as to 

whether the prior approval of the Local Planning Authority was required for the installation of 

replacement rooftop solar panels to the existing Elmfield Building. The building which was the 

subject of the proposed application was a set of offices within the main area of Witney. 

The Principal Planner stated that the application was considered against Schedule 2, Part 14, 

Class J of The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 

2015. The application also sought to establish whether the works would require formal 

planning permission or whether the application was to be granted under the order subject. 

The Principal Planner drew attention to information set out in section 5.6 of the officer’s 

report. 

 

Councillor Michele Mead proposed that the application be approved, in line with Officer 

recommendations. This was seconded by Councillor Nick Leverton, was put to a vote, and 

was unanimously agreed by the Sub-Committee. 

The Sub-Committee Resolved to: 

1. Approve the application in line with Officer recommendations. 

21 URGENT DECISION  

The Urgent Decision taken by the Chief Executive in respect of the East Witney planning 

appeal was to be noted and Members were provided with the Delegated Decision Notice that 

set out the circumstances of the decision.  

It was highlighted that more information and detail would be provided at a Member Briefing to 

be held on 11 July 2024. 

Councillor Nick Leverton proposed that the decision be noted and accepted. This was 

seconded by Councillor Andy Goodwin, was put to a vote, and was unanimously agreed by the 

Sub-Committee. 

 

Page 7



Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee 

10/June2024 

 

 

 

The Sub-Committee Resolved to: 

1. Note and accept the urgent decision. 

22 Applications Determined under Delegated Powers.  

The report giving details of applications determined under delegated powers was noted by the 

Sub-Committee. 

23 Appeal Decisions Report.  

The report giving details of Appeal Decisions was received and noted by the Sub-Committee. 

 

The meeting closed at 3.25pm. 

 

CHAIR 

Page 8



 
WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  
LOWLANDS AREA PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE 

 
Date: 8 July 2024 

 
REPORT OF THE BUSINESS MANAGER – DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Purpose: 
To consider applications for development details of which are set out in the following pages. 
 
Recommendations: 
To determine the applications in accordance with the recommendations of the Business 
Manager. 
 
The recommendations contained in the following pages are all subject to amendments in the 
light of observations received between the preparation of the reports etc and the date of the 
meeting. 
 
List of Background Papers 
 
All documents, including forms, plans, consultations and representations on each application, 
but excluding any document, which in the opinion of the ‘proper officer’ discloses exempt 
information as defined in Section 1001 of the Local Government Act 1972.        
                                                 
Please note that: 

1. Observations received after the reports in this schedule were prepared will be 
summarised in a document which will be published late on the last working day before 
the meeting and available at the meeting or from www.westoxon.gov.uk/meetings  

Page 9

Agenda Item 4

http://www.westoxon.gov.uk/meetings


 
Pages Application Number Address Officer 
11-27 
 

24/00655/FUL 111 Manor Road, Witney 
 

Clare Anscombe 
 

28-34 
 

24/00980/HHD 17 Cotswold Close, Minster Lovell 
 

Curtis Badley 
 

Page 10



 
Application Number 24/00655/FUL 
Site Address 111 Manor Road 

Witney 
Oxfordshire 
OX28 3UF 

Date 25 June 2024 
Officer Clare Anscombe 
Officer Recommendations Approve 
Parish Witney Parish Council 
Grid Reference 436578 E       209125 N 
Committee Date 8 July 2024 
 
Location Map 
 

 
 
 
© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 
100024316  
 
 
Application Details: 
Erection of a dwelling with associated parking, bin and bike stores. 

Page 11



Applicant Details: 
Mr Jon Pickering 
c/o Carter Jonas LLP 
Mayfield House 
276 Banbury Road 
Oxford 
OX2 7DE 
 
1 CONSULTATIONS 
 
Parish Council Reconsultation dated 6 June 2024. 

 
Objection.  
 
Witney Town Council note the amended plans to include the 
insertion of additional windows to the East elevation however 
still object to this application. Members continue to show 
concern for the scale of the proposed development in contrast 
to the site dimensions, the 
proposed dwelling will appear very cramped. The application is 
not compliant with the General Principles of policy OS2 of the 
West Oxfordshire Local Plan, the development is not of a 
proportionate and appropriate scale to its context and does not 
form a logical complement to the existing scale and pattern of 
development. Further, policy OS4, requires that development 
does not harm the use or enjoyment of land and buildings 
nearby including living conditions in residential properties - 
Members expressed concern to the lack of amenity land/garden 
and they see no change in the amended plans.  

 
OCC Highways Car parking for the proposed dwelling, 110a, complies with 

OCC Parking Standards. The existing dwelling is served by 1 car 
parking space. 
 
The proposal, if permitted, will not have a significant detrimental 
impact (in terms of highway safety and convenience) on the 
adjacent highway network. 
 
Recommendation: 
Oxfordshire County Council, as the Local Highways Authority, 
hereby notify the District Planning Authority that they do not 
object to the granting of planning permission, subject to the 
following conditions: 
 
- G28 parking as plan 
- G11 access specification 

Page 12



 
INFORMATIVE 
 
Please note If works are required to be carried out within the 
public highway, the applicant shall not commence such work 
before formal approval has been granted by Oxfordshire 
County Council by way of legal agreement between the 
applicant and Oxfordshire County Council see Dropped kerbs.  

 
WODC Drainage  No objection subject to conditions. 

 
If planning permission is granted, please request the following 
condition - 
 
That, prior to the commencement of development, a full surface 
water drainage scheme shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall 
include results of soakage tests carried out at the site to 
demonstrate the infiltration rate. Three tests should be carried 
out for each soakage pit as per BRE 365, with the lowest 
infiltration rate (expressed in m/s) used for design. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details prior to the first occupation of the 
development hereby approved. Development shall not take 
place until an exceedance flow routing plan for flows above the 
1 in 100 year + 40% CC event has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
REASON: To ensure the proper provision for surface water 
drainage and/ or to ensure flooding is not exacerbated in the 
locality (The West Oxfordshire Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment, National Planning Policy Framework and Planning 
Practice Guidance). If the scope of surface water drainage is not 
agreed before works commence, it could affect either the 
approved layout or completed works. 
 
In these cases the following notes should also be added to the 
decision notice: 
 
NOTE TO APPLICANT:  
The Surface Water Drainage scheme should, where possible, 
incorporate Sustainable Drainage Techniques in order to ensure 
compliance with; 
 
-  Flood and Water Management Act 2010 (Part 1 - Clause 27 
(1))  

Page 13



 
-   Oxfordshire County Council's Local standards and guidance 
for surface water drainage on major development in   
     Oxfordshire (V1.2 December 2021)  
     
-   The local flood risk management strategy published by 
Oxfordshire County Council 2015 - 2020  as per the Flood and  
    Water Management Act 2010 (Part 1 - Clause 9 (1)) 
 
-     CIRIA C753 SuDS Manual 2015 
 
-     The National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management 
Strategy for England, produced by the Environment Agency 
      in July 2020, pursuant to paragraph 9 of Section 7 of the 
Flood and Water Management Act 2010. 
 
-     Updated Planning Practice Guidance on Flood Risk and 
Coastal Change, published on 25th August 2022 by the  
      Environment Agency - https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-
risk-and-coastal-change.    
 
-     Non-statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage 
systems (March 2015))  

 
Env Health Contamination  No objection in relation to land contamination human health 

risks from this proposed development and will not be 
requesting planning conditions.  

 
Env Health Noise and 
Amenity 

 No objections, subject to the following pre-commencement 
condition (or likewise): 
 
1. No development shall take place until a site specific 
Construction Management Plan has been submitted to and been 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan 
must cover (at a minimum) noise, dust, vibration, odour, waste 
management, recycling, deliveries, site storage and site welfare. 
The plan must demonstrate the adoption and use of the best 
practicable means to reduce any adverse impact to the 
surrounding environment and community.  

 
District Ecologist  Response dated 4 April 2024:- 

 
Further information required.   

 
 
 

Page 14



Parish Council Objection. Response dated 11 April 2024. 
 
Members have shown concern for the scale of the proposed 
development in contrast to the site dimensions, the proposed 
dwelling will appear very cramped and not in keeping with the 
street scene. The application is not compliant with the General 
Principles of policy OS2 of the West Oxfordshire Local Plan, 
the development is not of a proportionate and appropriate scale 
to its context and does not form a logical complement to the 
existing scale and pattern of development. Further, policy OS4, 
requires that development does not harm the use or enjoyment 
of land and buildings nearby including living conditions in 
residential properties - Members expressed concern to the lack 
of amenity land/garden.  

 
District Ecologist  Reconsultation response dated 3rd May 2024:- 

 
Acceptable subject to conditions and informative.  

 
2 REPRESENTATIONS 
 
2.1 Letters of objection have been received from interested parties. The concerns raised have 
been summarised below:  
 

• Fails to provide an acceptable standard of living for current and future residents 
• Fails to provide a high quality design 
• Lack of parking 
• Out of character with the surrounding area 
• No need for an additional dwelling 
• Impact on the amenity of neighbouring residents 
• Impact on drainage 
• Impact on highway safety 
• Overdevelopment of the site 
• Impact on ecology 

 
3 APPLICANT'S CASE 
 
3.1  The applicant has submitted a Planning, Design and Access Statement which, in 

summary, makes the following points: 
 
o  It represents a more efficient use and development of a site that is already in benefit of 

an extant consent for a minor scheme of extension, in the midst of a fully sustainable 
and accessible location. It typifies all that the NPPF seeks in new residential development 
proposals 

 

Page 15



o  The proposal delivers an entirely sustainable form of development 
 
o  The proposal is produced in a traditional fashion overall, with a pitched roof, reduced at 

ridgeline from the existing house, and set back on its plot from the main house face, all 
in a subservient matching detached appearance. All as approved in the extent scheme of 
extension. It is entirely commensurate with the vernacular appearance of the 
surrounding properties in the local area. 

 
o  The proposal would not cause any neighbour impact issues in terms of loss of light, 

privacy or outlook to any of the surrounding properties by reason of the siting of the 
proposal at the side of the host property and alongside an area of public space. 

 
o  Each garden space has ample room for sitting out, informal recreation, clothes drying, 

gardening etc, all of the conventional garden uses. They also provide space for secure 
bike storage. A look at the proposed site layout plan demonstrates how the rear garden 
left with the existing house 
is just the same as those to many of the neighbouring properties and the amenity area 
to the new 1 bed unit is certainly spacious in itself for a property of that size, which 
often times in the case of a 1 bed unit has only a small balcony or terrace, this is 
significantly larger and more useable for its purpose. 

 
o  The proposed scheme makes a good residential use of an available, windfall site, in a 

sustainable, accessible location and provides for a new 1 bed unit, which adds to the 
social mix of the locality. 

  
o  It is a more efficient use of the site that is already in benefit of extant consent for an 

enlarged dwellinghouse, but which reworks it to a better and improved scheme overall 
in the provision of a new unit. 

 
4 PLANNING POLICIES 
 
OS1NEW Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
OS2NEW Locating development in the right places 
OS3NEW Prudent use of natural resources 
OS4NEW High quality design 
H1NEW Amount and distribution of housing 
H2NEW Delivery of new homes 
H6NEW Existing housing 
T1NEW Sustainable transport 
T2NEW Highway improvement schemes 
T4NEW Parking provision 
EH3 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
WIT6NE Witney sub-area strategy 
T3NEW Public transport, walking and cycling 
EH7 Flood risk 
DESGUI West Oxfordshire Design Guide 

Page 16



NATDES National Design Guide 
The National Planning Policy framework (NPPF) is also a material planning consideration.  
 
5 PLANNING ASSESSMENT 
 
Background Information 
 
5.1 The application site relates to a 20th Century, semi-detached property situated within a 

residential area (Cogges) in Witney. The site does not fall within any areas of special 
designated control. 

 
5.2 The site occupies a corner plot at a junction of Manor Road and is accessed from Manor 
Road. 
 
5.3 The existing dwelling consists of a pitched roof constructed of plain brown tiles and 

reconstituted Cotswold stone walling with uPVC windows and doors in brown.  
 
5.4  The proposed development is for the erection of a dwelling with associated parking, bin 

and bike stores. This includes the following to facilitate the development: 
 

o The repositioning of windows along the front elevation; and 
o The partition of existing outdoor amenity space associated with 111 Manor Road 

to serve the new dwelling.  
 
5.5  1 and 3 Manor Road lie to the east of the site. 113 and 115 Manor Road lie to the rear 

and to the north is 6 and 8 Manor Road. To the north-east is 10 and 12 Manor Road. 
 
5.6 The application is before members as the view of the Town Council is contrary to the 

Planning Officer's. The Town Council has raised the following concerns:  
 

i. Not in keeping with the street scene; 
ii. Not a proportionate and appropriate scale to its context and does not form a 

logical complement to the existing scale and pattern of development; and 
iii. Lack of amenity land.  

 
Relevant Planning History 
 
5.7 The following planning decisions are relevant to this application: 
 
13/0993/P/FP- Erection of boundary fence - Approved.  
21/01036/HHD- Proposed front entrance porch- Approved.  
23/00689/HHD - Two storey side and single storey rear extension with associated alterations. 
Approved. 22nd May 2023. As per Condition 1 of the consent, the permission remains extant 
until 22nd May 2026. However, the permission has not been implemented to date. 
23/02930/FUL - Erection of 1 bed dwelling with associated parking, bin and bike stores. 
Withdrawn. February 2024.  

Page 17



 
5.8 The application is a re-submission of planning application reference 23/02930/FUL. The 

following changes have been made since the withdrawal of the application: 
 

- The height of the ridge line on the proposed dwelling has been increased; 
- Amended window sizes at ground floor on front elevation of new dwelling; 
- The new dwelling has been brought forward in the plot and the rear lean-to 

element; reduced in size with a steeper roof pitch; 
- Rear windows reduced in size; 
- Pitched roof canopy over entrance door; and 
- The width of the amenity space extending from the rear elevation has been 

increased. 
 
5.9 Taking into account planning policy, other material considerations and the 

representations of interested parties, officers are of the opinion that the key 
considerations of the application are: 

 
- The Principle of Development; 
- Design, Scale, Form and Amenity;  
- Impact on Highway Safety and Parking;  
- Impact on Ecology; 
- Other Matters; and 
- The Benefits of the Development. 

 
The Principle of Development 
 
5.10 In October 2023 the Levelling-Up and Regeneration Act ("LURA") received royal ascent. 

The LURA replaces Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 in 
favour of new Section 38(5A) - (5C) which states: 

 
(5A) For the purposes of any area in England, subsections (5B) and (5C) apply if, for the 
purposes of any determination to be made under the planning Acts, regard is to be had 
to— 

 
- the development plan, and 
- any national development management policies. 

 
(5B) Subject to subsections (5) and (5C), the determination must be made in accordance 
with the development plan and any national development management policies, unless 
material considerations strongly indicate otherwise. 

 
(5C) If to any extent the development plan conflicts with a national development 
management policy, the conflict must be resolved in favour of the national development 
management policy. 

 

Page 18



5.11 At this time, Section 93 of the LURA, within which changes to Section 38(6) are 
contained, has not yet come into force. Therefore, the application should be determined 
in accordance with the West Oxfordshire Local Plan (WOLP) unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 

 
5.12  Annex 2 of the NPPF (December 2023) defines 'previously developed land' as 

'excluding land in built-up areas such as residential gardens.' Part of the application site 
occupies an existing residential garden in a built up area.  

 
5.13 Policy H2 of the Local Plan states that new dwellings will be permitted in main service 

centres, including Witney, on undeveloped land within the built-up area provided that 
the proposal is in accordance with other policies in the plan and in particular the general 
principles in policy OS2. 

 
5.14 Policy OS2 of the Local Plan states that all development should (inter alia): 
 

- Be of a proportionate and appropriate scale to its context having regard to the 
potential cumulative impact of development in the locality; 

- Form a logical complement to the existing scale and pattern of development 
and/or the character of the area; 

- Be compatible with adjoining uses and not have a harmful impact on the amenity 
of existing occupants; 

- Not involve the loss of an area of open space or any other feature that makes an 
important contribution to the character or appearance of the area; 

- Be provided with safe vehicular access and safe and convenient pedestrian access 
to supporting services and facilities; 

- Not be at risk of flooding or likely to increase the risk of flooding elsewhere; 
- Conserve and enhance the natural, historic and built environment; and 
- Be supported by all necessary infrastructure including that which is needed to 

enable access to superfast broadband. 
 
The Council's Housing Land Supply Position and implications of the NPPF 
 
5.15 The NPPF requires local planning authorities to demonstrate an up-to-date five year 

supply of deliverable housing sites. Where local authorities cannot demonstrate a five 
year supply of deliverable housing sites, paragraph 11 of the NPPF, as set out above, is 
engaged (and, as made clear in footnote 8, the development plan policies which are 
most important for determining the application, including policy H2, are out-of-date).  

 
5.16 Policies H1 and H2 of the WOLP identify an overall housing requirement of 15,950 

homes to be delivered in the period 2011 - 2031. Ordinarily, this would be used to 
calculate the Council's five-year housing land supply. However, the Council has 
undertaken a formal review of the WOLP in accordance with Regulation 10A of the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 and in doing so 
has determined that the housing trajectory of Policies H1 and H2 are out of date and 
need to be reviewed. In accordance with national policy, because those policies are now 

Page 19



more than 5 years' old, until such time as a new housing requirement is determined 
through the new Local Plan, the District Council will calculate its five-year housing land 
supply position on the basis of local housing need using the Government's standard 
method. For West Oxfordshire, the latest standard method calculation suggests a 
housing need figure of 570 homes per year. This is the basis upon which the 
requirement for the 5-year period 2023 - 2028 has been calculated. Set against a 5-year 
requirement of 3,060 homes, the Council's latest Position Statement seeks to 
demonstrate a 5.4-year supply. However, following a recent appeal decision at 'Land 
south of Burford Road, Minster Lovell' (PINs Ref. 3331279), the Council was found to 
have a 4.38-year supply, set against the standard method calculation of 570 homes per 
annum. A 4.34-year supply was subsequently found under appeal ref. 3332089, which 
amounts to a deficit of around 377 dwellings. On this basis, officers consider that the 
Council cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of housing land. It is therefore clear that 
the Council cannot currently demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites 
and as such, footnote 8 applies, the development plan policies which are most important 
for determining the application, including policy H2, are out-of-date and the provisions 
of paragraph 11d) of the NPPF are engaged. 

 
Conclusions on the principle of development 
 
5.17 In view of the above, it is clear that the decision-making process for the determination 

of this application is therefore to assess whether the adverse impacts of granting 
planning permission for the proposed development would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a 
whole, or whether there are specific policies in the framework that protect areas or 
assets of particular importance that provide a clear reason for refusing the development.  

 
5.18 In respect of bullet point i), detailed above, there are no specific policies in the 

framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance that provide a clear 
reason for refusing the development.  

 
5.19 In terms of the other relevant housing and locational policies in the Local Plan, Policies 

OS2 and the first strand of Policy H2 remain consistent with the NPPF in setting out a 
sustainable pattern of development based on a 'hierarchal' approach and remain up to 
date. 

 
5.20 The proposed dwelling is to be located within a main service centre, as identified in 

Table 4b of the WOLP. Therefore, the principle of development is considered to be 
acceptable.  

 
Design, Scale, Form and Amenity 
 
5.21 Policies OS2 and OS4 of the WOLP seek a high quality of design. Policy OS2 clearly 

advises that new development should form a logical complement to the existing 
character of the area. Similarly, Policy OS4 seeks a high quality of design that respects 
the character and quality of surroundings.  

Page 20



 
5.22 The NPPF also makes it clear that creating high quality buildings and places is 

fundamental to what the planning and development process can achieve, and the 
National Design Guide provides advice on the components of good design which 
includes the context for buildings, form and scale, appearance, landscaping, materials and 
detailing.  

 
5.23 Officers note that concerns have been raised by the Town Council and neighbouring 

properties regarding the scale and pattern of the development as well as impact on the 
street scene. Officers acknowledge that an extension of similar scale, form and detailing 
was approved in May 2023, but note that the proposed scheme is for a new dwelling as 
opposed to an extension and that should be reflected in the proposed design. 

 
5.24 The proposed dwelling has a pitched roof and differs from the extant May 2023 

permission in that its footprint is reduced in its rearwards depth projection with a small 
increase in width to accommodate additional amenity space. There has also been a 
minimal increase in the height of the ridge line and the size and positioning of windows 
on the front and rear elevations altered. Separate bin and bike stores are proposed. The 
proposed materials are the same as granted by the May 2023 permission, to match the 
neighbouring property.  

 
5.25 The proposed dwelling is of a traditional vernacular form which is considered to be in 

keeping with that of the neighbouring dwelling and neighbouring properties within the 
immediate locality. The proposed dwelling would be visible on the street scene. 
However, as the design of the dwelling is in keeping with the traditional forms seen 
within the locality, the proposed materials match that of the neighbouring dwelling and 
the proposed dwelling is slightly smaller than/mirrors the adjoining dwelling, it is 
considered that the proposed development would read as a new dwelling and form a 
logical complement to the existing scale and pattern of development and character of 
the area, not giving rise to any adverse impacts to visual amenity of the street scene. 

 
5.26  Concerns have been raised by residents regarding the removal of a section of stone 

boundary walling, as it forms part of the character of the estate, and the erection of 
additional fencing. However, the boundary treatment along the north of the site 
adjacent to the road is already close boarded fencing and there are other examples of 
dwelling plots being separated by timber fencing in the surrounding area. The existing 
stone walling runs along the rear/western boundary of the site and is only partially 
visible within the street scene. The works proposed include removing only a small 
section of the boundary walling and therefore officers do not consider that the 
proposed development would harm the visual amenity of the street scene or the 
character of the area.  

 
5.27 In terms of residential amenity, Local Plan Policy OS2 states that new development 

should be compatible with adjoining uses and not have a harmful impact on the amenity 
of existing occupants. The importance of minimising adverse impacts upon the amenity 

Page 21



of future and neighbouring occupiers is reiterated in Policy OS4 and the West 
Oxfordshire Design Guide.  

 
5.28  The proposal includes the partition of the existing private outdoor amenity space 

associated with 111 Manor Road to be used by the new dwelling. The amount of 
external amenity space has been increased since the earlier application was withdrawn, 
totalling 40sqm for the new dwelling, and is now considered to be acceptable and 
provide acceptable living conditions for the occupants of the new dwelling.  

 
5.29  As the external amenity space for the adjoining property has ample room for sitting out, 

informal recreation, clothes drying, gardening and is comparable in size with many 
neighbouring properties, it is considered that adequate external amenity space would be 
provided for existing occupants.   

 
5.30 With regard to the impact on neighbouring amenity, your officers consider that there is 

potential for some loss of privacy for neighbouring and future occupants due to the 
proposed window in the first floor rear elevation serving the bathroom, but this harm 
could be mitigated through a planning condition requiring the window to be fitted with 
obscure gazing. With this condition and due to the siting of the proposed dwelling, its 
separation distance to neighbouring properties, the siting of the openings on 
neighbouring properties, and existing and proposed boundary treatments, Officers 
consider that no significant impact will result upon neighbouring occupiers by way of 
overlooking, loss of privacy, overbearing or loss of light. Specific concern has been 
raised by neighbouring residents regarding loss of amenity as a result of the proposed 
parking space adjacent to 113 Manor Road. As the use of this land for parking was 
deemed acceptable as part of the May 2023 permission for the extension, it would be 
unreasonable for Officers to now raise this as a concern and refuse the application on 
that basis.   

 
5.31 The Environmental Health Team consider that there is potential for some noise and 

disturbance during the construction phase of the proposed development and so a 
condition is suggested requiring the submission and approval of a Construction 
Management Plan prior to the commencement of development. 

 
Highways 
 
5.32 Paragraph 115 of the NPPF states that 'development should only be prevented or 

refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway 
safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.'  

 
5.33 The proposed works include creating a single parking space to the rear of the new 
dwelling.  
 
5.34 The parking space proposed complies with the minimum space requirements for parking 

spaces, as set out in the OCC Highway Standards. The Local Highway Authority are the 
technical experts in terms of highway safety and convenience and officers rely on their 

Page 22



judgement when assessing highway/parking related issues. The Local Highway Authority 
have been consulted on the application and have raised no objections with regards to 
highway safety and convenience subject to conditions. On this basis, the scheme is 
considered acceptable and complies with policy T2 and T4 of the West Oxfordshire 
Local Plan.  

 
Impact on Ecology 
 
5.35  The Biodiversity Officer has been consulted and has no objections, subject to conditions 

and informatives.  
 
Other Matters  
 
5.36  Witney Town Council have raised an objection to the proposed development on the 

grounds that it would be contrary to policy OS2 and OS4 of the WOLP. These matters 
have been addressed in the above design section. 

 
5.37  Concerns have been raised by residents regarding the impact of the proposed 

development on surface water drainage. The Drainage Officer has been consulted and 
has no objection to the proposal subject to a pre-commencement condition requiring a 
full surface water drainage scheme to be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  

 
The benefits of the development 
 
5.38  Paragraph 60 of the NPPF sets out "the Government's objective of significantly boosting 

the supply of homes." The proposal would deliver an additional unit of residential 
accommodation within a sustainable location.  

 
5.39  Further Paragraph 70 of the NPPF states that small and medium sized sites can make an 

important contribution to meeting the housing requirement of an area, and are often 
built-out relatively quickly. 'Local Planning Authorities should support the development 
of windfall sites through their policies and decisions - giving great weight to the benefits 
of using suitable sites within existing settlements for homes.'   

 
5.40  Paragraph 123 states that planning decisions should promote an effective use of land in 

meeting the need for homes and other uses, while safeguarding and improving the 
environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions.  

 
5.41  Paragraph 124d) of the NPPF states: 'planning decisions should… promote and support 

the development of under-utilised land and buildings, especially if this would help to 
meet identified needs for housing where land supply is constrained and available sites 
could be used more effectively (for example converting space above shops, and building 
on or above service yards, car parks, lock-ups and railway infrastructure).'  

 
 

Page 23



 
Planning Balance and Conclusion 
 
5.42  In conclusion, your officers consider that, when assessed against the policies in the 

Framework taken as a whole, the adverse impacts of the proposed development do not 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of providing an additional dwelling 
within a sustainable location. Therefore, in accordance with paragraph 11d) of the NPPF, 
the application is recommended for approval subject to conditions. 

 
6 CONDITIONS/REASONS FOR REFUSAL 
 
1   The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission. 
 

REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act, 2004. 

 
2   That the development be carried out in accordance with the approved plans listed 
below. 
 

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt as to what is permitted. 
 
3   The development shall be constructed with the materials specified in the application. 
 

REASON: To ensure that the development is in keeping with the locality and for the 
avoidance of doubt as to what is permitted.  

 
4   Before first occupation of the building hereby permitted the window at first floor level 

in the rear elevation serving the proposed bathroom shall be fitted with obscure glazing 
and shall be retained in that condition thereafter. 

 
REASON: To safeguard privacy in the adjacent property and the amenity of future 
occupants of the proposed dwelling. 

 
5   The car parking areas (including where appropriate the marking out of parking spaces) 

shown on the approved plans shall be constructed before occupation of the 
development and thereafter retained and used for no other purpose. 

 
REASON: To ensure that adequate car parking facilities are provided in the interests of 
road safety. 

 
6   The means of access between the land and the highway shall be constructed, laid out, 

surfaced, lit and drained in accordance with details that have first been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and all ancillary works therein 

Page 24



specified shall be undertaken in accordance with the said specification before first 
occupation of the dwellings hereby approved. 

 
REASON: To ensure a safe and adequate access. 

 
7   That, prior to the commencement of development, a full surface water drainage scheme 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme shall include results of soakage tests carried out at the site to demonstrate the 
infiltration rate. Three tests should be carried out for each soakage pit as per BRE 365, 
with the lowest infiltration rate (expressed in m/s) used for design. The development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to the first occupation 
of the development hereby approved. Development shall not take place until an 
exceedance flow routing plan for flows above the 1 in 100 year + 40% CC event has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
REASON: To ensure the proper provision for surface water drainage and/ or to ensure 
flooding is not exacerbated in the locality (The West Oxfordshire Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment, National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance). If the 
scope of surface water drainage is not agreed before works commence, it could affect 
either the approved layout or completed works. 

 
8   No development shall take place until a site specific Construction Management Plan has 

been submitted to and been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
plan must cover (at a minimum) noise, dust, vibration, odour, waste management, 
recycling, deliveries, site storage and site welfare. The plan must demonstrate the 
adoption and use of the best practicable means to reduce any adverse impact to the 
surrounding environment and community. 

 
REASON: To safeguard the environment and amenity of the area. 

 
 
9  The development shall be completed in accordance with West Oxfordshire District 

Council's Precautionary Method of Working document. All the recommendations shall 
be implemented in full, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning 
authority.  

 
REASON: To protect biodiversity in accordance with the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 (as amended), the Protection of Badgers Act 1992, Circular 06/2005, paragraphs 
180, 185 and 186 of the National Planning Policy Framework, Policy EH3 of the West 
Oxfordshire District Local Plan 2011-2031, and in order for the Council to comply with 
Part 3 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. 

 
10   Prior to the installation of external lighting for the development hereby approved, a 

lighting design strategy for biodiversity shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 

Page 25



The strategy will: 
 

a)       Identify the areas/features on site that are particularly sensitive for nocturnal 
wildlife; 

b)      Show how and where external lighting will be installed (through the provision of 
appropriate lighting contour plans and technical specifications) so that it can be 
clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent the above 
species using their commuter route. 

 
All external lighting shall be installed only in accordance with the specifications and 
locations set out in the strategy.  

 
REASON: To protect nocturnal wildlife in accordance with the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 (as amended), Circular 06/2005, paragraphs 180, 185 and 186 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (Chapter 15), Policy EH3 of the West Oxfordshire District 
Local Plan 2011-2031, and in order for the Council to comply with Part 3 of the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. 

 
11   Before development takes place, details of the provision of integrated bat roosting 

features (bat boxes/tubes incorporated into the walls of the new dwelling, as close to 
eaves as possible, on south/south-west elevations) and integrated nesting opportunities 
for birds (two to four swift bricks incorporated into the walls of the new dwelling, as 
close to eaves as possible, on north/north-east facing elevations) shall be submitted to 
the local planning authority for approval. These will include a technical site and elevation 
drawings showing the types of features, their locations within the site and their 
positions. The approved details shall be implemented within 3 months of the completion 
of the development hereby approved and thereafter permanently retained. 

 
REASON: To provide additional opportunities for roosting for bats and nesting birds as 
a biodiversity enhancement, in accordance with paragraphs 180, 185 and 186 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (Chapter 15), Policy EH3 of the West Oxfordshire 
District Local Plan 2011-2031, and Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act 2006. 

 
 
INFORMATIVES :- 
 
1. If works are required to be carried out within the public highway, the applicant shall not 

commence such work before formal approval has been granted by Oxfordshire County 
Council by way of legal agreement between the applicant and Oxfordshire County 
Council see Dropped kerbs.  

 
2. The Surface Water Drainage scheme should, where possible, incorporate Sustainable 

Drainage Techniques in order to ensure compliance with; 
 

Page 26



-  Flood and Water Management Act 2010 (Part 1 - Clause 27 (1))  
 

-   Oxfordshire County Council's Local standards and guidance for surface water 
drainage on major development in Oxfordshire (V1.2 December 2021)  

     
-   The local flood risk management strategy published by Oxfordshire County Council 

2015 - 2020 as per the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 (Part 1 - Clause 9 
(1)) 

 
-    CIRIA C753 SuDS Manual 2015 

 
-    The National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy for England, 

produced by the Environment Agency in July 2020, pursuant to paragraph 9 of 
Section 7 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010. 

 
-    Updated Planning Practice Guidance on Flood Risk and Coastal Change, published on 

25th August 2022 by the Environment Agency - https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-
risk-and-coastal-change.    

  
-     Non-statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems (March 2015)) 

 
3. If a protected species (such as any bat, great crested newt, dormouse, badger, reptile, 

barn owl or any nesting bird) is discovered using a feature on site that would be affected 
by the development or related works all activity which might affect the species at the 
locality should cease. If the discovery can be dealt with satisfactorily by the 
implementation of biodiversity mitigation measures that have already been drawn up by 
your ecological advisor and approved by the Local Planning Authority then these should 
be implemented. Otherwise a suitably experienced ecologist should be contacted and 
the situation assessed before works can proceed. This action is necessary to avoid 
possible prosecution and ensure compliance with the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 
(as amended), the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), 
the Protection of Badgers Act 1992 and the Wild Mammals Act 1996. This advice note 
should be passed on to any persons or contractors carrying out the development/works 

 
West Oxfordshire District Council's Precautionary Method of Working document can 
be found here: https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/planning-and-building/wildlife-and-
biodiversity/biodiversity-specifications/ 

 
 
 
Contact Officer: Clare Anscombe 
Date: 25th June 2024 

Page 27



 
Application Number 24/00980/HHD 
Site Address 17 Cotswold Close 

Minster Lovell 
Witney 
Oxfordshire 
OX29 0SX  

Date 25 June 2024 
Officer Curtis Badley 
Officer Recommendations Approve 
Parish Minster Lovell Parish Council 
Grid Reference 431261 E       210585 N 
Committee Date 8 July 2024 
 
Location Map 
 

 
 
 
© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 
100024316  
 
 
 

Page 28



Application Details: 
Removal of existing carport, erection of a two storey side extension to create a self contained 
annexe, and formation of two additional off street parking spaces. 
 
 
Applicant Details: 
Mr Simon Winfield 
17 Cotswold Close 
Minster Lovell 
Witney 
Oxfordshire 
OX29 0SX 
 
1 CONSULTATIONS 
 
OCC Highways The parking layout does not fully comply with OCC Parking 

Standards in that unfettered access to the proposed annex is 
not provided which may result in overspill parking on the 
adjacent carriageway. However, in this case I cannot 
demonstrate that such parking would cause such harm as to 
warrant the refusal of the application for reasons of highway 
safety and convenience. 
 
The proposal, if permitted, will not have a significant detrimental 
impact (in terms of highway safety and convenience) on the 
adjacent highway network 
 
Recommendation: 
Oxfordshire County Council, as the Local Highways Authority, 
hereby notify the District Planning Authority that they do not 
object to the granting of planning permission, subject to the 
following conditions: 
 
- G28 parking as plan 
- G11 access specification 
 
INFORMATIVE 
Please note works are required to be carried out within the 
public highway, the applicant shall not commence such work 
before formal approval has been granted by Oxfordshire 
County Council by way of legal agreement between the 
applicant and Oxfordshire County Council see Dropped kerbs.   

 
Parish Council  Stance: Objects to the Planning Application 

 
 

Page 29



Comment Reasons: 
 - Design and layout 
 - Highways 
 - Other - give details 
 
Comment: The Parish Council objects to the proposal as it will 
set a precedent with regard to development of similar spaces. 
Also access to the proposed annex is limited in such a tight 
space with possible issues with parking on the road. Thus 
making it difficult for others to drive up and down the road with 
clear sight and unhindered.  

 
2 REPRESENTATIONS 
 
2.1  No third party representations have been received to date. 
 
3 APPLICANT'S CASE 
 
3.1  The applicant has outlined their position within the associated Planning Statement (dated 

27th March 2024) noting the application site, proposal, layout, scale, landscaping, 
appearance and access. 

 
4 PLANNING POLICIES 
 
OS2NEW Locating development in the right places 
OS4NEW High quality design 
H6NEW Existing housing 
T4NEW Parking provision 
DESGUI West Oxfordshire Design Guide 
The National Planning Policy framework (NPPF) is also a material planning consideration.  
 
5 PLANNING ASSESSMENT 
 
Background Information 
 
5.1  This application is to be heard before the Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee as 

the application has been submitted by an employee of the Council. 
 
5.2  The application seeks planning permission for the erection of two storey side extension 

to create a self-contained annexe following the removal of the existing car port at 17 
Cotswolds Close, Minster Lovell. The proposal also seeks to create two additional off 
street parking spaces to the front of the dwelling. 

 
5.3  The application site relates to a detached dwellinghouse within the residential area of 

Minster Lovell which does not fall within any areas of special designated control. 
 

Page 30



5.4  Taking into account planning policy, other material considerations and the 
representations of interested parties, officers are of the opinion that the key 
considerations of the application are: 

 
• Principle of Development 
• Design, Siting and Visual Impact 
• Highways 
• Residential amenity 

 
Relevant Planning History 
 
5.5  15/02898/FUL - Approve (17.09.2015) 

Removal of existing dwelling and replace with two dwellings, associated car ports and 
new access. 
12/1284/P/FP - 12/1284/P/FP (20.11.2012) 
Removal of existing dwelling and replace with two dwellings, associated carports and 
new access. 

 
Principle of Development 
 
5.6  In terms of the principle of development, a proposed self-contained annexe in this 

location would be acceptable subject to compliance with relevant policies of the West 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 including OS2, OS4, H6 and T4. 

 
Siting, Design and Visual Impact 
 
5.7  The proposal seeks to remove the existing car port which adjoins the Eastern side of 

the existing three-bedroom detached dwelling, 17 Cotswold Close. In its place, the 
proposal seeks the construction of a two-storey side extension for use as a self-
contained annexe. The proposal also seeks the amendment to the front parking area and 
boundary to create additional off-road parking. 

 
5.8  Policy OS2 of the adopted West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 requires any development 

to be of a proportionate and appropriate scale to its context and the local area. Policy 
H6 of the Local Plan permits changes to existing housing to manage and maintain 
sustainable communities and a high-quality environment including alterations, extensions 
or sub-division of existing dwellings that will respect the character of the surrounding 
area and will not unacceptably affect the environment of people living in or visiting that 
area.  

 
5.9  The proposed two storey extension is to be 6.3 metres in total height and have an 

eaves height of 4.45m, set lower than the existing dwelling and utilising an integrated 
dormer to the front and rear of the extension. The extension is set back by 2m from 
the principal elevation of the dwelling and through the moderate height, set back and 
limited width (3.2 metres) - the extension is considered to be subservient to the main 
dwelling. To the front, the extension features two smaller windows which match the 

Page 31



windows within the first floor of the existing dwelling, and this is replicated to the rear. 
The access to the extension is gained through a single side door, leading into a single 
room containing a small kitchen and living area. At first floor level, the extension 
contains a bedroom and ensuite bathroom which is accessed by a set of stairs also 
located within the extension. The proposed elevations are to be red brick, with wooden 
windows and doors beneath a concrete tile roof to match the existing dwelling. 

 
5.10  By virtue of its scale, footprint, form and materials proposed, your officers are of the 

opinion that the development will appear sufficiently subservient and will respect the 
character and appearance of the host dwelling. The proposed side extension would be 
visible on the street scene, however, officers are of the opinion that given the use of 
matching materials, its subservient and appropriate design, and the siting of the 
extension to the side of the property, the development will not result in any adverse 
harm to the wider street scene. As such the proposed development would comply with 
policies H6, OS2 and OS4 of the West Oxfordshire Local Plan.  

 
5.11  The original permission with reference: 15/02898/FUL for the development of two 

dwellings (including the application site) included a condition (4) which restricted 
extensions, porches, dormer windows, roof lights, no garages or other such buildings 
under permitted development. In consideration of the scale of development and in 
consideration of the existing condition which continues to relate to the application site, 
an additional condition relating to the restriction of permitted development rights is not 
considered necessary.   

 
Highways 
 
5.12  OCC Highways have been consulted on the application due to the additional bedroom 

and amendments to the parking provision. The OCC Highways response raised no 
objections in regard to highways safety and convenience. Whilst they have set out that 
the "parking layout does not fully comply with OCC Parking Standards in that 
unfettered access to the proposed annex is not provided which may result in overspill 
parking on the adjacent carriageway. However, in this case I cannot demonstrate that 
such parking would cause such harm as to warrant the refusal of the application for 
reasons of highway safety and convenience". The recommended conditions relating to 
the provision of parking and means of access in accordance with the associated plans is 
attached. 

 
5.13  The Minster Lovell Parish Council has raised objection to the access to the proposed 

annexe and possible issues in relation to parking, access and highway safety. In 
consideration of the above assessment which sets out that the OCC Highways Officer 
cannot demonstrate that such parking would cause such harm as to warrant the refusal 
of the application for reasons of highway safety and convenience, it is considered on 
balance that the application should not be refused on this basis. 

 
 
 

Page 32



Residential Amenities 
 
5.14  The proposed two storey extension is adjacent to the existing car garage located to the 

Eastern side of the site. By virtue of the proposals position to the East of the dwelling 
and screening by existing built form, the extension is not visible from neighbouring 
dwellings to the West. In consideration of the extensions positioning adjacent to 
existing built form and the modest nature of the proposal, an impact by overlooking, 
overshadowing and overbearing is not expected. 

 
5.15  A separate dwelling in this location would not provide sufficient private amenity areas 

for the existing and proposed occupiers and would adversely affect the residential 
amenities of adjacent occupiers. To prevent the subdivision of the property into 
separate dwellings a suitable condition will be attached to restrict the use of the annexe 
to the residents to remain ancillary to the existing dwelling on site (17 Cotswold Close). 

 
5.16  In light of the above assessment, your Officers have carefully considered the residential 

amenity concerns that may arise from a development and have concluded that the 
application is acceptable in terms of residential amenity.  

 
Other Matters 
 
5.17  The Minster Lovell Parish Council has raised objection to the proposal partially "as it 

will set a precedent with regard to development of similar spaces". As set out within the 
above assessment, the proposed development is considered to be a suitable increase in 
built form in relation to the dwelling and plot size and remains subservient and in 
keeping in the surrounding area. It is therefore considered that the development is 
appropriate and acceptable and that similar proposals will be considered on their 
individual merits. 

 
Conclusion 
 
5.18  In light of the above assessment, the application is recommended for approval as your 

officers consider it complies with the provisions of policies OS2, OS4, H6 and T4 of the 
adopted Local Plan; WODC Design Guide 2016 and the relevant paragraphs of the 
NPPF 2023. 

 
6 CONDITIONS/REASONS FOR REFUSAL 
 
1   The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission. 
 

REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act, 2004. 

 

Page 33



 2   That the development be carried out in accordance with the approved plans listed 
below. 
 

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt as to what is permitted. 
 
 3   The development shall be constructed with the materials specified in the application. 
 

REASON: To ensure that the development is in keeping with the locality and for the 
avoidance of doubt as to what is permitted.  

 
4   The proposed annexe accommodation permitted shall be used as ancillary to the 

existing dwelling on site (17 Cotswold Close) and shall not be occupied as a separate 
dwelling. 

 
REASON: A separate dwelling in this location would not provide sufficient private 
amenity areas for the existing and proposed occupiers and would adversely affect the 
residential amenities of adjacent occupiers. 

 
5   The car parking areas (including where appropriate the marking out of parking spaces) 

shown on the approved plans shall be constructed before occupation of the 
development and thereafter retained and used for no other purpose. 

 
REASON: To ensure that adequate car parking facilities are provided in the interests of 
road safety. 

 
6   The means of access between the land and the highway shall be constructed, laid out, 

surfaced, lit and drained in accordance with details that have first been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and all ancillary works therein 
specified shall be undertaken in accordance with the said specification before first 
occupation of the annexe hereby approved. 

 
REASON: To ensure a safe and adequate access. 

 
INFORMATIVES :- 
 
1. Please note works are required to be carried out within the public highway, the 

applicant shall not commence such work before formal approval has been granted by 
Oxfordshire County Council by way of legal agreement between the applicant and 
Oxfordshire County Council see Dropped kerbs. 

 
 
 
Contact Officer: Curtis Badley 
Date: 25 June 2024 
 
 

Page 34



DELGAT 
 

West Oxfordshire District Council – DELEGATED ITEMS  

 
Application Types Key 
 
Suffix 
 

 Suffix  

ADV Advertisement Consent LBC Listed Building Consent 
CC3REG County Council Regulation 3 LBD Listed Building Consent - Demolition 
CC4REG County Council Regulation 4 OUT Outline Application 
CM County Matters RES Reserved Matters Application 
FUL Full Application S73 Removal or Variation of Condition/s 
HHD Householder Application POB Discharge of Planning Obligation/s 
CLP 
CLASSM 
 
HAZ 
PN42 
 
PNT 
NMA 
WDN 

Certificate of Lawfulness Proposed 
Change of Use – Agriculture to 
Commercial 
Hazardous Substances Application 
Householder Application under Permitted 
Development legislation. 
Telecoms Prior Approval 
Non-Material Amendment 
Withdrawn 
 

CLE 
CND 
PDET28 
PN56 
POROW 
TCA 
TPO 
 
FDO 

Certificate of Lawfulness Existing 
Discharge of Conditions 
Agricultural Prior Approval 
Change of Use Agriculture to Dwelling 
Creation or Diversion of Right of Way 
Works to Trees in a Conservation Area 
Works to Trees subject of a Tree 
Preservation Order 
Finally Disposed Of 

 
Decision 
Code 
 

 
Description 

 
Decision 
Code 

 
Description 

APP 
REF 
P1REQ 
P3APP 
P4APP 
SPL 

Approve 
Refuse  
Prior Approval Required 
Prior Approval Approved 
Prior Approval Approved 
Split Decision 

RNO 
ROB 
P2NRQ 
P3REF 
P4REF 

Raise No Objection  
Raise Objection  
Prior Approval Not Required 
Prior Approval Refused 
Prior Approval Refused 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35

Agenda Item 5



DELGAT 
 

 
 
West Oxfordshire District Council – DELEGATED ITEMS 
Week Ending 11th June 2024 

 

  
Application Number.  

 
Ward. 

 
 Decision. 

 
 
1.  23/00136/OUT Brize Norton and Shilton WDN 
  

Outline planning for the sub-division of site for the creation of a self build/custom house 
building plot for a single storey dwelling (with all matters reserved) 
Quarry Dene Burford Road Brize Norton 
Mr Terry Hinchly 
 

 
2.  23/03100/CND North Leigh REF 
  

Discharge of condition 8 (surface water drainage scheme) of Planning Permission 
21/03503/FUL 
26 Park Road North Leigh Witney 
Mr Robert Sutton 
 

 
3.  24/00119/S73 Witney South APP 
  

Erection of a semi-detached dwelling with associated parking and access (retrospective)  
1A Wilmot Close Witney Oxfordshire 
Mrs Marta Sroka 
 

 
4.  24/00587/CLE Hailey, Minster Lovell and 

Leafield 
APP 

  
Certificate of Lawfulness in respect of commercial equestrian use and associated operational 
development (amended) 
The Paddocks New Yatt Witney 
Mr and Mrs P and R Conlon 
 

 
5.  24/00588/CLE Hailey, Minster Lovell and 

Leafield 
APP 

  
Certificate of Lawfulness in respect of the use of a building for B2 general industrial use and 
the use of land and buildings for mixed agricultural, commercial equestrian and B2 uses with 
associated operational development (amended) 
The Paddocks New Yatt Witney 
Mr and Mrs P and R Conlon 
 

 

Page 36



DELGAT 
 

6.  24/00596/S73 North Leigh APP 
  

Variation of condition 1 of permission 23/01778/FUL to extend the use of the temporary car 
park on the existing football pitch for a further 12 months until 31st March 2025 
North Leigh Football Club Eynsham Park North Leigh 
C/O Agent 
 

 
7.  24/00638/HHD Eynsham and Cassington APP 
 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 
Loft conversion to create habitable rooms in roofspace with front and rear rooflights. 
(Amended) 
27 Hazeldene Close Eynsham Witney 
Mr Long 
 

 
8.  24/00806/OUT Standlake, Aston and Stanton 

Harcourt 
REF 

  
Outline planning application with all matters reserved apart form access, layout and scale, for 
the erection of two three bed detached self-build dwellings, garages and ancillary works 
Park Farm House Standlake Road Northmoor 
Messrs. Gary, Lloyd and Conor Allmond 
 

 
9.  24/00834/FUL Eynsham and Cassington APP 
  

Demolition of car wash and store, and erection of food-to-go pod and associated works 
Eynsham Filling Station Eynsham Witney 
C/o Agent 
 

 
10.  24/00861/CLP Standlake, Aston and Stanton 

Harcourt 
APP 

  
Cerificate of lawfulness (to allow the repositioning of previously approved ancilliary buildings 
approved in 23/02928/CLP) 
Manor Field House 41B High Street Standlake 
Mrs Zoe Davies 
 

 
11.  24/00871/HHD Witney North APP 
 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 
Construction of detached outbuilding. 
7 Woodgreen Witney Oxfordshire 
Mr P Andrews 
 

 

Page 37



DELGAT 
 

12.  24/00877/FUL Alvescot and Filkins APP 
  

Installation of ground mount photovoltaic modules (Solar Panels) together with back-up 
batteries to generate carbon-free electricity for the dwelling. 
Langford Downs Farm Langford Lechlade 
Mr And Mrs Gavin MacEchern 
 

 
13.  24/00925/FUL Standlake, Aston and Stanton 

Harcourt 
APP 

  
Construction of car port. (Retrospective). 
The Old Bell 21 High Street Standlake 
Mr T Fletcher 
 

 
14.  24/00935/HHD Bampton and Clanfield APP 
 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 
Construction of detached summerhouse. 
1 Victoria Cottages  Broad Street Bampton 
Ms Melanie Penning 
 

 
15.  24/00936/FUL Hailey, Minster Lovell and 

Leafield 
REF 

  
Erection of a detached dwelling and associated works 
112 Brize Norton Road Minster Lovell Witney 
Mr Steve Harris 
 

 
16.  24/00938/HHD Carterton North East APP 
  

Installation of air source heat pump. 
10 Boundary Way Carterton Oxfordshire 
Mr Terence Cooling 
 

 
17.  24/00951/HHD North Leigh APP 
  

Installation of a double-glazed window 
1 Gough Close North Leigh Witney 
Dr Dylan Windell 
 

 
18.  24/00965/LBC Witney Central APP 
 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 
Installation of fascia sign. (Retrospective). 
70 High Street Witney Oxfordshire 
Mr Somaiya 
 

 

Page 38



DELGAT 
 

19.  24/01008/ADV Witney Central APP 
 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 
Installation of externally illuminated fascia sign. (Retrospective). 
70 High Street Witney Oxfordshire 
Mr Somaiya 
 

 
20.  24/01026/FUL Bampton and Clanfield APP 
 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 
Change of use of land to increase the domestic curtilage along with erection of boundary 
fencing and a garden room to be used as a home office. 
2 Valence Court Aston Road Bampton 
Mrs Kayley Roberts 
 

 
21.  24/01029/HHD North Leigh APP 
  

Erection of a single storey rear and two storey side extension and a front porch 
Greenacres 32 Park Road North Leigh 
Mr Edward Heaton 
 

 
22.  24/01053/LBC Eynsham and Cassington APP 
  

Internal and external alterations to replace seven windows and a door 
Lime Cottage Bell Lane Cassington 
Mr Iain Humphrey 
 

 
23.  24/01070/FUL Ducklington APP 
  

Engineering operations including the laying of underground electricity cables and associated 
infrastructure to connect the consented solar farm to the overhead line at the junction of 
Curbridge Road and A415 
Ducklington Farm  Course Hill Lane Ducklington 
Nicola Jones 
 

 
24.  24/01071/CLP North Leigh APP 
  

Certificate of Lawfulness (Conversion of garage to create additional living space, works to 
include the removal of existing garage door and replacement with matching painted timber 
cladding incorporating a glazed door and formation of new internal access door) 
Paddock House New Yatt Road North Leigh 
Mr Brendan Kay 
 

 

Page 39



DELGAT 
 

25.  24/01104/HHD Carterton South APP 
  

Erection of front extension to existing garage and alterations to the height of the garage to 
create storage area above 
84 Oakfield Road Carterton Oxfordshire 
Mr George Simoni 
 

 
26.  24/01105/CLP Witney East APP 
  

Certificate of lawfulness (erection of a single storey rear extension) 
29 Larch Lane Witney Oxfordshire 
Mr Wood 
 

 
27.  24/01095/PN56 Eynsham and Cassington P4REF 
  

Conversion of an agricultural barn to a dwelling house 
Fir Tree Farm Barnard Gate Witney 
Mr And Mrs Kirk 
 

 
28.  24/01024/HHD Witney Central APP 
  

Erection of first floor rear extension 
18 Springfield Oval Witney Oxfordshire 
Phil Horne 
 

 
29.  24/01147/CND Eynsham and Cassington APP 
  

Discharge of condition 4 (render details for external walls) of planning permission 
21/02012/HHD. 
Shuttles Cottage Chapel Road South Leigh 
Mr And Mrs N Baish 
 

 
30.  24/01154/HHD Witney West APP 
  

Erection of single-storey first floor extension over garage (resubmission following 
18/03126/HHD). 
59 Thorney Leys Witney Oxfordshire 
Mr and Mrs Mike Dove 
 

 
31.  24/01179/CND Eynsham and Cassington APP 
 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 
Discharge of condition 4 (green roof construction and management scheme) of Planning 
Permission 23/01479/HHD 
13A High Street Eynsham Witney 
Mr & Mrs Ben Field 
 

 

Page 40



DELGAT 
 

32.  24/01204/HHD Witney West APP 
  

Installation of No 2 side dormer windows to create en-suite (amended) 
1 Donnington Close Witney Oxfordshire 
Mr And Mrs M Ferreira 
 

 
33.  24/01211/HHD Ducklington APP 
  

Conversion of existing garage to create a study. 
18 Curbridge Road Ducklington Witney 
Mr Leigh Kendall 
 

 
34.  24/01219/CND Alvescot and Filkins APP 
 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 
Discharge of condition 9 (full surface water drainage scheme) of Planning Permission 
23/03139/S73 
The Old School Kelmscott Lechlade 
Mr And Mrs M And S Gascoyne And Schaumloeffel 
 

 
35.  24/01241/CND Witney Central APP 
 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 
Discharge of condition 3 (schedule of materials) of Planning Permission 23/03208/FUL 
1 Kingswalk Cottages 46A High Street Witney 
Sasha Robertshaw 
 

 
36.  24/01276/CND Bampton and Clanfield APP 
 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 
Discharge of conditions 4 (full surface water drainage scheme), 8 (landscape scheme) and 9 
(Replacement trees and plants) of Planning Permission 23/02297/FUL 
1 Primrose Lane Weald Bampton 
Mr Adrian Smart 
 

 
37.  24/01301/CND Brize Norton and Shilton APP 
  

Discharge of conditions 3 (materials) of planning permission 22/01593/FUL. 
Country Park Kilkenny Lane Brize Norton 
Mr Chris French 
 

 

Page 41



DELGAT 
 

38.  24/01310/NMA Alvescot and Filkins APP 
 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 
Erection of two storey side and single storey front extensions, works to include replacement 
windows and doors, creation of new driveway and construction of an outbuilding (non-
material amendment to allow the use of Cardinal cast slates in place of stone slates.) 
Brookside Cottage Kencot Lechlade 
Mr James Tyler 
 

 
39.  24/01314/CLP Witney Central REF 
  

Certificate of Lawfulness (Conversion of detached garage) 
25 Woodpecker Way Witney Oxfordshire 
Ting Ting Lam 
 

 
40.  24/01383/NMA Brize Norton and Shilton APP 
  

Reserved Matters application for Phase 3A comprising 164 dwellings with associated 
landscaping, highway and drainage and infrastructure (Non Material amendment to allow 
change in design to plots 572, 573, 694 and 695) 
Land East of Monahan Way Carterton 
Mr Andrew Winstone 
 

 
41.  24/01437/NMA Witney South APP 
 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 
Changes to ground floor layouts of Units 2 and 3, to include new pedestrian access in side 
elevation to access first floor and provision of rear bin/cycle store. Conversion of empty first 
floor storage space to create 10 residential units. (non-material amendment to 19/02013/FUL 
to allow minor amendments to first floor flat internal layouts to allow installation of heat 
pump cylinder cupboards/improve furniture layout). 
27 Market Square Witney Oxfordshire 
Mr A Patel 
 

 
 

Page 42



Lowlands Appeal Decisions 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/D3125/D/24/3340454 

23/03248/HHD – 5 Leys View, Langford, Oxfordshire GL7 3LH.  

Erection of two storey side/rear extension, single storey rear extension and front porch. 

 

Appeal Dismissed.  

Page 43

Agenda Item 6

https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3340454


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Name and Date of 

Committee 

LOWLANDS AREA PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE – 8 JULY 2024 

Subject PROGRESS ON PRIORITY ENFORCEMENT CASES  

Wards Affected As specified in Annex A 

Accountable Member Councillor Andy Graham – Leader of the Council. 

email: andy.graham@westoxon.gov.uk 

Accountable Officer Phil Shaw – Business Manager, Development Management.  

Email: phil.shaw@publicagroup.uk  

Report Author Kelly Murray – Principal Planner (Enforcement and Appeals). 

email: kelly.murray@westoxon.gov.uk  

Purpose To provide an update on progress in respect of priority enforcement 

investigations. 

Annex Annex A – Schedule of Cases (Sections A to C) 

Recommendation That the progress and nature of the outstanding enforcement investigations 

be noted by the Sub-Committee.  

Corporate Priorities   Putting Residents First 

 Working Together for West Oxfordshire 

Key Decision NO 

Exempt NO 

Consultees N/A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 45

Agenda Item 7

mailto:andy.graham@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:phil.shaw@publicagroup.uk
mailto:kelly.murray@westoxon.gov.uk


 

1. BACKGROUND AND MAIN POINTS 

1.1. Section A of Annex A contains cases where the requirements of a formal notice 

have not been met within the compliance period. 

1.2. Section B contains cases where formal action has been taken but the compliance 

period has yet to expire. 

1.3. Section C contains cases which are high priority but where the expediency of 

enforcement action has yet to be considered. 

1.4. The Sub-Committee should be aware that the cases included in this update 

constitute only a small number of the overall enforcement caseload across the 
District, which at the time of writing consists of 250 live cases. The high priority 

cases for both Uplands and Lowlands constitute approximately 13% of the total 

caseload. 

2. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

2.1. There are no financial implications resulting from this report.   

3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

3.1. Not applicable.  

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

None

Page 46



 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex A 

 
SECTION A – PROGRESS ON CASES WHERE THE REQUIREMENTS OF A FORMAL  

NOTICE HAVE NOT BEEN MET WITHIN THE COMPLIANCE PERIOD 

The cases listed in the following section are those where a notice has been served and the requirements have not been met within the compliance 

period or there has been an unauthorised display of advertisements.  This means that an offence is likely to have been committed and that the Council 

need to consider the next steps to secure compliance.  In some cases this will entail the initiation of legal proceedings to bring about a prosecution.  

Site Address  Unauthorised 

Development 

Notes Update/Action to be taken 

27 Cherry Tree 

Way, Witney 

Unauthorised 

storage of 

materials 

relating to the 

occupier’s 

business. 

There has been a history of 

unauthorised, commercial 

storage and two ENs have been 

served, in 2016 and 2020.  The 

2020 EN was not complied with 

and so an injunction was sought 

and granted.   

This case remains open and Officers continue to monitor the nature/levels of 

storage. 

Entrance to 

New Yatt 

Business Centre 

Unauthorised 

change of use of 

land from 

agriculture to 

builders 

yard/storage 

EN not complied with. Following a meeting with the owner, Officers agreed an extension to spring 

2024 for removal of the stored items.  This matter is now with the Counter-

fraud team. 

Reynolds Farm, 

Cassington (also 

known as Dove 

House) 

Unauthorised 

works and 

change of use of 

outbuildings to 

residential use 

without the 

requisite 

consents. 

Reynolds 

Farmhouse is a 

An Enforcement Notice was 

served in respect of unauthorised 

works to the barn located to the 

west of the main farmhouse. An 

enforcement appeal was 

dismissed and the EN upheld 

with corrections requiring the 

removal of two front porch 

extensions and lowering the 

eaves and ridge height of the 

building by 6th July 2020.   

Following successful prosecution proceedings, compliance with the 

enforcement notice is being monitored. 

P
age 49



Site Address  Unauthorised 

Development 

Notes Update/Action to be taken 

Grade II listed 

building  

On 21 February 2023 at Oxford 

Magistrates Court the owners 

were found guilty of breaching 

the enforcement notice and fined 

£16,000 plus costs. 

 

Weald Manor 

Farm, Bampton 

Works not in 

accordance with 

the approved 

plans 

(15/02150/FUL) 

for the range of 

buildings to the 

rear of the site. 

Unauthorised 

outbuilding and 

extension of 

curtilage. 

Unauthorised 

conversion and 

change of use of 

barn to a 

dwelling. 

The Council served three 

enforcement notices in respect of 

these breaches in May 2022 and 

these were not appealed.  They 

required action to be taken by 

mid-October (demolition of 

garage), and December 

(reinstatement of barn and 

compliance with approved plans), 

none of which works have to 

date been carried out.   

Officers have met with the owners and their representatives and are in the 

course of proposing a way forward to remedy the breaches of planning control.   

P
age 50



Site Address  Unauthorised 

Development 

Notes Update/Action to be taken 

Land at Mount 

Pleasant Farm, 

Northmoor 

Unauthorised 

storage use.  

Unauthorised 

residential 

caravan 

Construction of 

a motocross 

track and use of 

the land for 

motocross. 

Enforcement Notices in respect 

of these breaches were appealed 

and a public inquiry held, 

following which PINS dismissed 

the appeals.  The deadline for 

compliance with the EN was July 

2022. 

 

 

Officers have made several visits since the expiry of the compliance date and 

are satisfied with the progress that has been and continues to be made in 

clearing the site.  Monitoring continues. 

Land at Thorney 

Leys 

Non -

compliance with 

the approved 

landscaping 

scheme under 

16/02718/CND 

(15/00647/FUL) 

A breach of condition notice was 

served in July 2022 giving a 

compliance period of 150 days in 

which to carry out the approved 

landscaping scheme.  The works 

have not been carried out in full 

and the landscaping has not been 

maintained. 

 

Officers have obtained a noise report from ERS and are now referring the case 

to counter-fraud. 

Land South of 

Main Road, 

Curbridge 

Unauthorised 

change of use of 

land from 

agriculture to 

storage of 

builders/waste 

materials. 

Unauthorised 

hard standings. 

An appeal inquiry took place in 

March this year following service 

of two enforcement notices in 

2022. 

Appeals against enforcement 

notices served in 2022 were 

subsequently withdrawn during 

the course of the inquiry.   

The hardstanding and some of the stored items were removed by the 

compliance date however a mound composed in part of waste materials 

remains.  Officers are monitoring the position in the context of development 

proposals for the site which have recently been the subject of appeal and on 

which a decision is awaited. 

P
age 51



Site Address  Unauthorised 

Development 

Notes Update/Action to be taken 

Lavender 

Cottage, 

Minster Lovell 

Non-compliance 

with conditions 

attached to 

17/03978/HHD- 

creation of 

hardstanding for 

car parking. 

Siting of 

wooden 

outbuilding 

within car 

parking area. 

Hardstanding and a gabion cage 

wall were constructed without 

details in respect of access, 

construction details and a hard 

and soft landscaping scheme 

having been discharged. 

The Council served an 

enforcement notice in May 2023.  

An appeal was submitted out-of-

time.   

Following substantial negotiation and successive incomplete applications, the 

owners finally reapplied successfully for retention of off-street parking.  The 

permission granted requires the gabion walling to be faced and capped with 

limestone on or prior to October 2024.  

Goat Acre, 

Weald Bampton 

Erection of 

palisade fence  

An enforcement notice was 

served in July 2023 and was not 

appealed. 

The contravener failed to remove the fence within the compliance period.  

Following a pre-application enquiry, Officers are considering an application to 

replace the fence with an alternative that is likely to be more sympathetic to 

the rural context.   

 

  

P
age 52



 

SECTION B – PROGRESS ON ENFORCEMENT INVESTIGATIONS WHERE FORMAL ACTION HAS BEEN TAKEN. 

The cases listed in Section B are ones where a notice has been served but the compliance date has not yet passed (or where it has passed and the 

notice has been complied with). 

Site Address 

and Case No. 

Unauthorised 

Development 

Notes Update/Action to be taken 

66 Corn Street, 

Witney 

Unauthorised 

outbuilding in the 

curtilage of a listed 

building and in the 

conservation area. 

Planning permission was refused 

for the retrospective building 

under 21/02061/FUL. 

The Council served an 

enforcement notice in June 2022 

which was appealed.   

The appeal was dismissed and the outbuilding has now been removed.  Case 

closed. 

DC Automotive 

Home Farm 

Mount Skippett 

Ramsden 

Unauthorised 

material change of 

use - sale of second 

hand cars and vehicle 

servicing. 

The Council served an 

enforcement notice in 

November 2022.   

Following an appeal hearing earlier this year, the enforcement notice was 

upheld with corrections.  The mixed sales and repairs use must be 

discontinued by November 2024.  Compliance with the EN will be 

monitored over the coming months.  

Park Farm, 

Standlake Road, 

Northmoor 

Development of 15 

dwellings 

(15/04506/S73).  

Open space has been 

fenced off by 

developer and has 

not been landscaped 

as part of the 

approved scheme. 

A refusal for construction of a 

dwelling (22/01748/FUL) on a 

northern area of the site was 

refused last year and the appeal 

was dismissed.  Landscaping on 

this and on a further, southern 

part of the site has not been 

carried out in accordance with 

approvals. 

Officers have now served breach of condition notices requiring the 

landscaping works to be carried out on both areas during the next planting 

season.  

 

P
age 53



SECTION C – PROGRESS ON OTHER ENFORCEMENT INVESTIGATIONS IDENTIFIED AS BEING HIGH PRIORITY 

Site Address and 

Case No. 

Unauthorised Development Notes Update/Action to be taken 

The Paddocks, 

The Weald, 

Bampton 

Breaches of conditions 

attached to planning 

permissions for the 

individual plots on the gypsy 

site.  

Change of use of a number 

of plots on the land to 

unauthorised caravan sites 

and extension to the 

caravan site. 

There remain breaches of planning control within the 

established site area of The Paddocks.   

 

A new cross-Council project team has 

been created which is preparing a report, 

exploring the various issues at the 

Paddocks with a view to reporting to the 

Executive in due course.  

Land to the north 

of Mead View, 

Cassington Road, 

Eynsham 

Unauthorised use of the 

land for the storage of 

builders materials, the siting 

of metal containers and 

parking of vehicles in 

association with a stone 

masonry business 

This site is located within the Green Belt and the flood 

plain, however the use has been ongoing for some time. 

 

Officers consider an appropriate way 

forward is to invite an application for a 

CLE.     

Crawley Inn, 

Crawley 

Unauthorised residential 

caravans 

The landowner is claiming a lawful use in respect of the 

siting of residential caravans on the land.  

Committee has resolved to grant 

permission for residential development 

(23/00539/FUL) subject to a section 106 

agreement.  This is in the course of being 

negotiated.  One of the agreed terms is 

that the caravans will be removed before 

the development is occupied.   

Little Willow, 

Eynsham 

Alleged unauthorised 

hardstanding and extension 

of the site onto adjoining 

land. 

An EN was served in 2021 in respect of the hardstanding 

but was subsequently withdrawn for technical reasons. 

In September 2021 Officers refused an application to 

increase the numbers of residential units on the site.  An 

appeal against refusal was dismissed for technical reasons  

The planning application on the established 

gypsy site has stalled due to lack of flood 

information.   

Authorisation for service of a further 

enforcement notice in relation to the 

P
age 54



Site Address and 

Case No. 

Unauthorised Development Notes Update/Action to be taken 

Breach of condition relating 

to numbers of residential 

units on site. 

change of use and hard standing on the 

adjacent land is being sought. 

Land Between 57 

And 61 

West End 

Witney 

Oxfordshire 

Untidy land.  
 

Officers are in the course of arranging a 

meeting to discuss the use of the site. 

Land adj Burleigh 

Lodge Cassington 

Road Bladon 

Laying of hardstanding for 

use as car park.  Use of 

woodland for commercial 

forest school. 

Part of the affected land is designated as “ancient 

woodland”. 

 

Retrospective applications 22/03502/FUL and 

22/03501/FUL were refused and a decision is awaited on 

the appeals. 

The bushcraft activity in the woods has 

not recommenced pending outcome of 

the appeals. 

 

Due to the sensitivity of the sites it is 

likely that immediate enforcement action 

would be taken should the unlawful use 

recommence.  Officers are monitoring the 

sites. 

Croft Pool 

Land at Pickfords 

Pool 

Croft Lane 

Standlake 

Alleged unauthorised 

construction of dwelling and 

associated track  

 

A dwelling and another structure have been constructed 

on an island in a lake, with an associated access track. An 

added complication is that the site is a designated 

scheduled ancient monument. 

An expediency report has been prepared 

requesting authority to serve an 

enforcement notice.   

Chillbrook Farm, 

Barnard Gate, 

OX29 6XD 

unauthorised creation of 

access (refused under 

20/02507/FUL) 

Dismissed appeal against refusal. The track has been removed and the case 

is closed. 

West End House 

26a West End 

Witney 

Listed building in extreme 

neglect 

Officers have tried over a number of years to engage 

with the owner but without success.  Officers entered 

the property using their statutory powers last year and 

it consider intervention is required to prevent further 

damage to the fabric of the building. 

Officers have drawn up a schedule of 

works and are now seeking estimates for 

the necessary work so that a report can 

be put before the Executive. 

 

P
age 55



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	4 Applications for Development
	24/00655/FUL
	24/00980/HHD

	5 Applications Determined under Delegated Powers
	6 Appeal Decisions
	7 Progress on Enforcement Cases
	Enforcement update Lowlands July 2024


